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NO UNDERTAKING FILED DURING THE COURSE OF THIS HEARING
Monday, May 29, 2006

     --- ON COMMENCING AT 10:07 a.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Good morning, everyone.

     I'm glad to see that you made it.  Those of you who walked or biked must be feeling very fit this morning.

     Today is Day 4 of the hearing of application EB-2005-0520 submitted by Union Gas Limited for an order or orders approving or fixing rates or other charges for the sale, distribution, transmission and storage of gas for their fiscal year 2007.

     The sole purpose of today's hearing is the cross-examination of Mr. Adams.  
     I believe that Mr. Crockford is on the line today, again just to let people know that. 
     Before we begin, are there any preliminary matters?

PRELIMINARY MATTERS:
     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, there are a number of undertakings which I'm in a position to advise the Board have been answered.  They are U.2.5, which was to provide an update of Exhibit J.13.33 to reflect the parties’ settlement in this matter.  This was a question asked by Mr. Thompson.  
Secondly, Exhibit U.2.6, also an undertaking asked of Mr. Thompson, to provide an update -- oh, this was question in which he was acting as Ms. DeMarco's proxy -- to provide an update to J.25.05 (a), and that's been done.  
Finally, sorry, on Exhibit U.2.9, an undertaking given to Mr. Buonaguro to compare the delivery rates in 2001 for three classes of customers:  Those consuming 2300, 2600, and 2900 cubic metres of gas per year.

     U.3.2:  To provide an update to Exhibit J.1.71 to reflect the updated customer-related costs and recovery resulting from the settlement was an undertaking given to Mr. Aiken.

     U.3.3, another undertaking given to Mr. Aiken to provide the bill impact provided at Exhibit U.2.4 at page 2 of 5, line 25, to include gas supply commodity charges.  That's been done.

     And then finally, I have an answer to the question you had asked, Madam Chair.  And what I am advised is that 

Union's billing system currently identifies as customers residential, commercial or industrial.  And that field in the billing system is populated at the time the customer is set up on the billing system and is used primarily to determine which bill insert is included in the customer bill.

     As indicated at Exhibit J.21.26, part K, the approximately 1 million codes are not maintained, and are not refreshed after the initial account is set up.  So 

Union unfortunately is in the position to advise that the current form of the information is not of a standard appropriate for billing.  
So if I could take an example, I don't live in the Union Gas franchise area, but I, for example, lived in an apartment which was a converted dentist’s office, and that had a separate meter.  And presumably, when it was established as the dentist's office, it would have been coded commercial.  When I took over the lease, it wouldn't have been converted.

     So that's the system.  That's the billing system.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MS. DEMARCO:  Madam Chair, I have one further preliminary item.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Ms. DeMarco.

     MS. DEMARCO:  In relation to the order of final argument, we've circulated a few e-mails and we've received some comments and we have a preliminary draft order for final comment of the intervenors.  Would you like me to give that to you now?

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, please, Ms. DeMarco.

     MS. DeMARCO:  First up for the company's final argument would be CCC, second would be Schools, third would be VECC, fourth is IGUA, fifth is OAPPA, sixth is LPMA, seventh, is FONOM, eighth is EGD, ninth is Kitchener, tenth is CME, eleventh is Superior, TransAlta and Coral, twelfth is OESC, thirteenth is LIEN, and fourteenth is Energy Probe.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.

     MS. DeMARCO:  I should just note, Madam Chair, that we haven't received confirmation from a number of parties, so that may be subject to change, but to date we've heard no further comments on the order.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thanks, Ms. DeMarco.  
Let me ask Mr. Crockford.  Mr. Crockford, do you plan on making final argument?  
     MR. CROCKFORD: Actually, I was going to raise a preliminary issue myself, and that was with regard to appeal.
     MS. NOWINA:  Yes?  
     MR. CROCKFORD: I'm asking that the parties consent, in addition to the Board and Panel, to extend me an extension of time.  I actually hurt my back last week so I was basically out of commission, and I worked on it this weekend, and I believe the deadline is tomorrow, but I don't believe I'll be done in time to file it.  So --
     MS. NOWINA:  Just a moment, please, Mr. Crockford. 
     Mr. Crockford, an extension of time for the filing of your appeal or submitting final argument?  
     MR. CROCKFORD:  No, for the appeal.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you for the request, 

Mr. Crockford, we will get back to you on that.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Any idea when?  

     MS. NOWINA:  No, but likely have soon, Mr. Crockford. 

     MR. CROCKFORD:  No, but will it be today?

     MS. NOWINA:  Likely. 
     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.

     MS. NOWINA:  Regarding your submitting final argument,

Mr. Crockford, do you plan to do that?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Actually, I'm not sure what I should do, if I should or I shouldn't, since I have the appeal going.  So I guess at this point I'll say no.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right, thank you, Mr. Crockford.

     While we're on the topic of argument, I just want to give everyone direction on argument that submissions be strictly limited to the issues that the Board Panel has to decide.  And we will probably put a time limitation on argument tomorrow as we see in the end how many intervenors we have who are going to make argument.  
     Tomorrow we cannot begin until 10 o'clock because of a Board committee meeting early in the morning, assuming that the Transit system's working.  So we do have limited time.

     MR. DINGWALL:  How many weeks are set aside for argument?

     MS. NOWINA:  I beg your pardon, Mr. Dingwall?

     MR. DINGWALL:  I'm presuming that argument will fit in tomorrow; is that correct?

     MS. NOWINA:  It will fit in tomorrow.  Yes.  Yes, it will start and finish tomorrow, so we will set the schedule in that way. 

     Are there any other preliminary matters?

     MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, while we're on this topic, I should add that Board Staff does plan to make a very brief submission, I was thinking probably at the end of the list that Ms. DeMarco gave you.  I anticipate it won't be more than five minutes, I would think, at the longest, but we did want to make a few comments. 

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, just housekeeping only, just to keep beam abreast of where we're at.

      Union has now answered all of the undertakings it has given, with the exception of 2.7 and U.2.8, both of which were undertakings given to Mr. Thompson which relate to NGEIR, and we will not be in a position to answer those before tomorrow.  I assume that doesn't cause anybody any trouble, and answers will follow following argument.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  I think we expected that is.

     So we're ready to begin the examination in-chief of Mr. Adams.  Mr. MacIntosh, I would ask you to keep your examination in-chief as brief as possible.  Our expectation is that it will be limited to matters that arose out of the Union panel cross-examination or corrections to Mr. Adams' evidence.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Madam Chair, my name is David MacIntosh, and I am here today on behalf of Energy Probe Research Foundation.  With me is Tom Adams, whom Energy Probe has called as a witness on the risk management issues.

      May I introduce Mr. Adams and ask that he be sworn now.  

     ENERGY PROBE – PANEL 1

Tom Adams; Sworn.

     EXAMINATION IN-CHIEF BY MR. MacINTOSH:
     MR. MACINTOSH:  If I could start by asking, Mr. Adams what is your current position?

     MR. ADAMS:  I'm executive director of Energy Probe.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  In that role, have you been involved in the preparation of the Energy Probe Research Foundation evidence, K, tab 10, schedule 1, and L, tab 10, schedules 1-12, which is at tab 3 and tab 2 respectively of the Energy Probe compendium of documents, Exhibit M.1.8?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Do you adopt the evidence as well?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  And do you have any corrections that you wish to bring to the Panel's attention?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, I have one correction, and that can be found, the correction can be found, in L.10, schedule 6.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  That's at tab 2.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. ADAMS:  It is tab 4, page 4.  And the Figure 2, which has the pink line and the blue line, was incorrectly presented in the original evidence.  And there's a correction here with an explanation as to what the original mistake was.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Adams.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Madam Chair, if I could ask you to turn to the CV of Mr. Adams, which is Exhibit K, tab 10, schedule 1, appendix A.

      Energy Probe will be asking that Mr. Adams be qualified to provide his opinion on the pre-filed risk management evidence in the context of his considerable experience in the energy market in Ontario.

      Madam Chair, as I mentioned just before we ended the day on Friday, normally I would ask Mr. Adams a number of questions on his experience.  However, since he was accepted in the most recent natural gas cost-of-service proceeding, being EB-2005-0001, the Enbridge 2006 rate case, to provide his opinion on the pre-filed risk management evidence in the context of his considerable experience in the energy market in Ontario, I would ask the Panel whether it wishes to hear the recitation of his qualifications, which have not changed in any material way since that proceeding, or if?  It is prepared to accept them on the same basis as before.

     MS. NOWINA:  Let me ask the other parties, does anyone have a submission regarding Mr. Adams' qualifications and his acceptance as an expert witness?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Madam Chair, in the Enbridge decision, or in the Enbridge transcript, there is a caveat that he agrees that he's not an expert with respect to risk-management programs per se.  And I would assume that the same restriction on his expertise would be in place here.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  We're not offering him as a witness in that respect.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. SMITH:  I would just like to read it into the record so it's perfectly clear.  Counsel indicated:
"I wanted to confirm that Mr. Adams is not being offered or proffered as an expert in the design or conducting or implementation of public affairs or marketing research surveys, and further, that he is not being proffered as an expert in risk management per se."

     And both of those were accepted as correct, and he's not being put forward in that capacity.  

     I assume the same is true in this case, and if that's the position, then I'm perfectly prepared to skip this element of his examination.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  That's our position.

     MS. NOWINA:  Then we will accept Mr. Adams as an expert witness.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.

     Madam Chair, we have some direct evidence today.  We're not going to be as long as we had originally indicated on Friday that our examination in-chief would be.

     But I note that the applicant's risk management panel did offer up new evidence not only in examination in-chief but in cross-examination as well, and it appears reasonable to us to deal with these items of new evidence as well as the document offered up as not being in answer to our interrogatory at J.10.08.

     To make it more efficient for the Panel members in respect to documentation, we'll be referring, in the main, to material in our Exhibit M.1.8.  And that would be to M.1.9, M.1.10 to M.2.2, U.2.3, and to the equal billing document.  And I actually don't have the evidence number for the equal billing documents.

     MR. DINGWALL:  M.2.4.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Pardon me?

     MR. DINGWALL:  M.2.4.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you.

     Mr. Adams, how did the issue of the appropriateness of risk management, Issue 3.16, come before the Board?

     MR. ADAMS:  Energy Probe requested that Issue III.6 be

added to the draft issues list when it was circulated.  We

argued that this matter is a contested issue before the

Board on issues day, and against the objections of the

applicant, the Board decided to include issue 3.6 -- Issue

3.16. Issue 3.16 was the only contested issue added to

the list at that time.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  What new evidence does the Board have before it in this proceeding, and how might this evidence be characterized?

     MR. ADAMS:  Union has proposed a new 24-month 

purchasing program, and it might be characterized as if

smoothing is a good thing, then more smoothing is better.

     Energy Probe has produced evidence and IR responses

which have been identified on the record, and this body of

material presented to the Board might be characterized as

identifying consumer harm caused by artificially smoothed

regulated prices.

     The exhibits M1.9, 1.10, and M.2.2 were added to the record by Union and these exhibits might be characterized as showing that for the most part risk management is not just a zero-sum game, but it is mostly a sum of zeros game.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  And what method of smoothing do you

find to be consistent with the mandate of the OEB?

     MR. ADAMS:  Equal billing is a method that supports

efficiency, consumer protection, and competition.  And I

support equal billing.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  And why is it that you support equal

billing, Mr. Adams?

     MR. ADAMS:  Equal billing provides budgeting

convenience for consumers while ensuring price transparency. Consumers can see their actual costs each month and make their conservation and direct purchase decisions accordingly.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Adams, did you have an opportunity

to review the Ipsos-Reid survey of Union's system-gas

customers dated November 4, 2004?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, I have reviewed it, and I observe

that purpose of the survey appeared to be to gauge the

interest of consumers in -- that is, system-gas customers of Union Gas, and to gauge their interest in obtaining more

options for their purchase of natural gas.  Consumers were

asked if they wished to have more choice, and in the main

consumers endorsed that perspective.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  In all the questions about what might

be beneficial to these customers, did the interviewers ever

mention that Union's system-gas customers currently had more than one option?  What I'm asking is did interviewers ever mention that Union offered an equal billing plan?  Was that in the script about choice?

     MR. ADAMS:  I could not find reference to the equal

billing plan.  As well, I could not find reference to any

information about overhead costs associated with risk

management that might be reflected in price either.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Adams, is there anything more that

you wish to add?

     MR. ADAMS:  No.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Those being my questions of the 

witness, Madam Chair, I would tender Mr. Adams for

cross-examination.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  My order of cross-examination

that I have is Ms. DeMarco, Mr. Buonaguro, Mr. Dingwall, and then Mr. Smith.  Is that correct?

     MS. DEMARCO:  I believe it's Mr. Dingwall and then

Mr. Buonaguro, then myself, and then Mr. Smith.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  There's anyone else who wishes to comment?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Wouldn't it be appropriate for -- as

VECC is the only intervenor who's cross-examining who's

support of risk management, because Mr. Adams is clearly not in favour of risk management, I believe Mr. Dingwall and Ms. DeMarco's clients are both in support of Tom Adams'

evidence, so they should be going before me.

     MS. DeMARCO:  That's fine with me, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So why don't we do that.  It's Mr. Dingwall.


MR. DINGWALL:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  My name

is Brian Dingwall.  My questions are going to relate

primarily to M.1.9, M.1.10, and Exhibit U.2.2.  U.2.2, I

don't know if you've got it, but I can provide a copy.  Okay.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DINGWALL:

     MR. DINGWALL:  In looking at M.1.10, the first graph

there appears to be an estimate or a portrayal of a

reduction in volatility based on Union's actual cost

of gas versus the NYMEX price.

     Do you think, Mr. Adams, that this is a fair portrayal

of volatility reduction?

     MR. ADAMS:  I believe that these numbers are accurate

and they do reflect the implications of the risk-management

program.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, a question that certainly was

before the Panel in the Enbridge case and seems to be

inherent in this proceeding is what is the relative effect

of the various other measures that mitigate price volatility from a customer perspective?  And the other measures are the QRAM and also the equal billing plan.  In M.2.2, which is derived from M.1.9, with a few changes, in the first two columns, A and B, we have an Alberta border price inclusive of the effects of risk management, and then in column B we have an Alberta border price exclusive of the effects of risk management.

      Now, as I understand it, these prices reflect the base price that arises from the smoothing of the QRAM process, one with and one without the effects of risk management.

      In looking at U.2.2, can you equate the WACOG prices

to the Alberta market prices?  Do you think there's a

correlation there?

     MR. ADAMS:  Let me just back up to one of your suppositions in your question, and I would observe that another factor in the current pricing methodology and gas purchasing program that has an effect of dampening volatility, well, that's a subset of the QRAM but it deserves mention on its own, is the practice of seasonal load-balancing, buying a commodity ahead of the winter season.

     But let me just -- but in every other respect I support your description of the smoothing aspects of the existing pricing methodology.

     Now, with respect to correlation between WACOG and Alberta market prices, the WACOG price would be strongly correlated to the Alberta market price.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, the WACOG is set on a periodic basis, depending on when the rates are changed.  We have the company's evidence that it’s based on a 12-month forecast, and that that's part of it.

     What I'm trying to figure out is if there is a way that we can come up with a simple comparison between the market prices and the WACOG prices that would give us some measure of the dampening of volatility as a result of using the QRAM process, based on column B, and then even comparing that with the dampening of QRAM associated with column A, and seeing whether those numbers relate.

     MR. ADAMS:  One method of doing that would be to compare the standard deviation of the -- around the mean of both numerical series.

     MR. DINGWALL:  And is that essentially what was done on M.1.10.

     MR. ADAMS:  Would that be comparable to the volatility analysis that Union did on M.1.10?

     MR. ADAMS:  It's comparable but not exactly the same, for one -- one departure between the two of them is that the exhibits relate to different time series.  But the methodology that I've suggested, and that is, the standard deviation around the mean, is what was done in M.1.10.

     MR. DINGWALL:  And do you think that using such a methodology in respect of both column A and column B on 

M.2.2 would provide an accurate portrayal of the reduction in volatility as a result of the QRAM, one with risk management and one without risk management?

     MR. ADAMS:  It would be a useful way of comparing the two options.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Now, Madam Chair, I gave notice to the

Board on Friday afternoon that I would be asking Mr. Adams questions and he would have advance notice of them and have the ability to prepare for them.

      I take it, Mr. Adams, that you have not had the opportunity, given the good weather on the weekend, to perform these calculations?

     MR. ADAMS:  I am remiss.  I was planning to finish the calculations this morning, and my transportation requirements for my family turned out to be more complicated than expected.

     MR. DINGWALL:  I take it, Mr. Adams that the completion of these calculations would not be what we technical specialists call rocket surgery?

     MR. ADAMS:  No.  This is not a complicated thing, and I apologize for not being properly prepared.

     MR. DINGWALL:  So, if it were to be done by the – if it were available, you could do it by the end of the day; is that correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  For what purpose at this point, Mr. Dingwall?  No one will be able to cross-examine on it?

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, how does that differ from a company undertaking response, Madam Chair?

     MR. SMITH:  Well, there are two problems.  One, we can't cross-examine on it, and to the extent this is all elicited from U.2.2, the proposition that Mr. Dingwall is putting to Mr. Adams that he'd like Mr. Adams to confirm after the oral evidence portion of this is concluded was not put to any of Union's witnesses. So I have no ability, nor do Ms. Piett or Ms. Simpson, have any ability to respond to any of this.

      Ms. Piett was asked about 1.9, and a number of times about whether or not risk management could be found in

column A, and her answer, of course the Board will remember, is that that didn't include settlements and the real answer lay in the PGVA impact, but there was nothing done about U.2.2.  So I frankly have no ability to deal with this line of questioning.  

And I mean, I suppose, I should also say, I wasn't -- while Mr. Dingwall may have indicated that he was going to put questions to Mr. Adams, he didn't tell me what those questions were, so I haven't even had the ability to run -- to have Mr. Simpson and Ms. Piett run this math and provide me with any indication of the utility of it.

     MR. DINGWALL:  With all due respect to Mr. Smith,

Mr. Adams had asked an interrogatory 10.04B, asking for the historical QRAM prices, which Union declined to respond to.

      What this hearing is about, in the context of risk management, is whether there's an effect of risk management on volatility.  And of course, the day that the panel was presented, they provided M.1.9, M.1.10, which were their own calculations on very discrete and arguably relevant measures.      

What I'm suggesting is that Mr. Adams, based on information that the company has provided and which I indicated at the time that I requested that information we'd be using for some form of comparison in argument,  simply give us an identifiable mathematical formula, which is simple addition, followed by division, that he would indicate he would be using.  And that's not rocket science. 

     Union can argue as to whether they believe it's an appropriate representation of the reduction of volatility or the portrayal of volatility, and that those calculations compare the WACOG price with risk management and without risk management.

     MS. NOWINA:  So you're requesting it as an undertaking, Mr. Dingwall?

     MR. DINGWALL:  Yes, it is.  

MR. SMITH:  I don't think it's an appropriate undertaking and I would say this:  It's not appropriate for two reasons.  One, Mr. Dingwall referred to the question with respect to QRAM.  That question, there's no dispute that Union answered that question by saying it could not rerun the QRAM process.

     If Mr. Dingwall wanted another proxy for the QRAM process, it was out there that Union couldn't run the QRAM process when Ms. Piett and Mr. Simpson were here, and I think the question that he wants asked should be put, in fairness, to Ms. Piett and Mr. Simpson.  

     With respect to whether or not it's properly included by way of argument, Mr. Dingwall is quite correct that I could, once I have the answer, get a response from Mr. Simpson and Ms. Piett, and I could put it to this Board in argument.  But my saying it doesn't make it evidence.  And I don't think it's appropriate for this Board to be receiving in any context evidence that's not properly before the witnesses, any more than I would think on other issues parties should be putting in material that's not properly put in to witnesses on cross-examination, or Union should be doing that.  It's just simply not as a matter of fairness appropriate.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Well, Mr. Smith has the ability to call reply evidence.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Smith, what about Mr. Dingwall's point that it is no different than an undertaking from the company that may arrive today and not be subject to examination?

     MR. SMITH:  Well, this is not that situation.  This is a situation that arises not from an undertaking where perhaps an explanation could at least be wrapped around the undertaking.  This is a question that relates to an interrogatory on the QRAM process.  And, yes, the numbers are on the undertaking.  But Mr. Dingwall has confirmed that the derivation of his question is he'd like a proxy for the QRAM calculation.  And that is not the example of an undertaking that we're being met with here today.

     And, in fact, if the -- I suppose if the question had been put clearly, we could have wrapped it around Exhibit 

2.2, and at least had some indication of whether or not this is even appropriate.

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm going to confer with me colleagues. 

Before I do, Mr. Dingwall, any last comments?

     MR. DINGWALL:  No, ma'am.

     [The Board confers]

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We've reached a conclusion. 

Mr. Dingwall, we will allow the undertaking.  And we do request that it be in as early as possible this afternoon so that in particular the applicant has time to review it.

     We'll also allow the applicant in their argument to address that evidence in whatever way they see fit and we'll take quite a broad view to how they address that.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  And we'll get an undertaking number.

     MR. SCHUCH:  Madam Chair, that will be Undertaking No. U.4.1.  And just for clarity, perhaps Mr. Dingwall would summarize the nature of the undertaking.  

     MR. DINGWALL:  The undertaking is for Mr. Adams to use the figures contained in Exhibit U.2.2 to analyze the deviation -- or, pardon me, the volatility effect – or volatility-reducing effect of the WACOG for both column A and column B on M.1.9.

     MR. ADAMS:  I'm not totally certain about that.  It's not entirely clear to me.  On M.2.2, we can identify the standard deviation of both of those series A and B.  And we can do the same for the price series identified on U.2.2 

So we've got three standard deviations -- calculation of three standard deviations; am I understanding you clearly?

     MR. DINGWALL:  I was referring to M.1.9 because it's the same units of measurement for the cost.  It's dollars per gigaJoule, and M.2.2 is cents per cubic metre.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, that won't affect the standard deviation, though.

     MR. DINGWALL:  It might affect the comparison because

U.2.2 is dollars per gigaJoule, and --

     MR. ADAMS:  The means will be different because of the units, but --

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams, perhaps I should ask you, is this a useful undertaking?

     MR. ADAMS:  If I understood the undertaking the first time we discussed it, I thought we were looking at M.2.2.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.

     MR. SMITH:  M.2.2?

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  What question were you posed on Friday?  Mr. Dingwall indicated he posed a question to you. 

What was it?

     MR. ADAMS:  My recollection of our discussion was --

     MR. SOMMERVILLE:  It wasn't written?

     MR. ADAMS:  No.

     MR. DINGWALL:  We had a discussion outside the hearing room, Mr. Sommerville, on whether it was possible to portray the reduction of volatility as a result of the QRAM.  And we looked at the figures in columns A and B as being one with the QRAM and one without the QRAM.

     MR. ADAMS:  But one with risk management.

     MR. DINGWALL:  One with risk management, one without the risk management.

     MR. DINGWALL:  As Mr. Adams is the one to do the work

I'd, frankly, like to hear how he believes it would be done best.  And if we can clarify the formula, that might give

Mr. Smith as much information as he might need to cross-examine him.


MR. SMITH:  Well, I will not be cross-examining him on this.

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes.  And Mr. Dingwall, the purpose of your cross isn't to give Mr. Adams another opportunity to enter evidence.

     MR. DINGWALL:  It's not intended on being that.

     MS. NOWINA:  Well, Mr. Dingwall, I'm going to rescind my decision to allow the undertaking and please proceed.  Go forward.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Mr. Adams, in looking at the figures in column A and column B of M.2.2, does there appear to be an appreciable difference between the WACOG with risk management and without risk management?

     MR. ADAMS:  The extent of the difference is identified in the third column of figures.

     MR. DINGWALL:  So not very much?

     MR. ADAMS:  Most of the time the difference is zero or very close to zero.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Does that lead you to any conclusions with respect to the effect of the QRAM on the dampening of volatility versus the effects of risk management on the dampening of volatility?

     MR. ADAMS:  It appears that QRAM has a much greater effect on volatility dampening than risk management.

     MR. DINGWALL:  And do you think that effect would be demonstrated if there were to be calculation of the standard deviation of the Alberta border prices for the numbers in column A versus the number in column B?

     MR. ADAMS:  The calculation you've just described would provide a quantified analysis of that volatility effect.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Okay.  You mentioned earlier -- I'm moving on to another portion of this -- that there are some out of time period aspects to the commodity pricing in the QRAM.  Can you describe these?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  The function in the QRAM produces a price that's influenced by a number of factors, and many of these factors relate to out of period adjustments.

     MR. DINGWALL:  When you say "out of period," does that mean beyond a year?

     MR. ADAMS:  No, out of the period at which the price that's derived from the QRAM will be applicable.  So you have a QRAM price that's going to apply for a three-month period.  The inputs to that calculation include a 21-day strip or an annual period.  They also include the effects of risk management and they also include the effects of seasonal load-balancing, all of which generate prices for the next three months using inputs that don't necessarily relate to that three-month period.

     There's also the PGVA, which is a mechanism for correcting from previous periods.  Since the PGVA rolls over a time horizon that's historic, this is another factor that causes the QRAM price to be both smoothed and also depart from market prices.

     MR. DINGWALL:  Those are my questions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Dingwall.  Ms. DeMarco?

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. DeMARCO: 

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

     Mr. Adams, I'm wondering if you've got the Superior package of materials in front of you?

     MR. ADAMS:  I do.

     MS. NOWINA:  Do we have that marked as an exhibit?

     MS. DeMARCO:  It is.  It's Exhibit M.1.7, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And your evidence is included at tab 2A.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Of that exhibit.  Would you agree with me, generally, that implicit in your evidence is the concept that price signals do impact customer behaviour?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And also implicit in that evidence is

that additional smoothing - and what I mean by "additional" is additional to QRAM processes - that additional smoothing through first risk management and then further, the proposed 24-month fixed cost purchase plan, distorts pricing signals?

     MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Now, I have a few questions about how that price signal distortion may impact customer behaviour.  Is it fair to say that price signal distortion from the proposed fixed-cost purchase plan and risk management may impact customer choices about whether or not to take service from a competitive service provider?

MR. ADAMS:  I believe that we have sufficient evidence

now to indicate that the pricing methodologies that are used now have had that effect historically, and we can reasonably anticipate that they will have that effect that you've described, that is, influencing customer purchasing behaviour in the future if we do not improve the accuracy of the price signal that consumers are provided.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, in fact, would it be fair to say that it's possible that the price signal distortion caused by the proposed fixed cost purchase plan and risk management could impede a customer's ability to accurately and transparently compare utility and competitive service offerings?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  And I've attempted to address this in interrogatory responses.  SEM asked a question about differentials between market prices -- in the marketer offerings versus regulated prices.  And I attempted to provide a pictorial demonstration of the results of that query on my database.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams, do you have a reference for that interrogatory?  The response?

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, if I can be of assistance, at tab 3B of the book of materials, it's included there.

     MS. NOWINA:  Of your book of materials?

     MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, Madam Chair, M.1.7.

     MR. SMITH:  And I think it might be at 3C.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Yes, I'm sorry, 3C.

     MR. ADAMS:  3C.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. ADAMS:  And it starts at page 5 and 6.

     Figure 3 relates to a comparison between the M2 rate without rate riders versus the best three-year offering that's available to consumers using the Energy Shop website.  And what I've done there is sort all the contracts that I have for various time periods to identify the lowest cost offering for customers that are looking for a three-year contract.

      And Figure 4 does the same kind of calculation, or same kind of pictorial representation, sorting the database to identify the best five-year contracts at the time.

      And what you can see in these graphs is that there are historical periods, some of which are very recent, but some of which relate back to 2001, where the regulated prices exceed the prices in the unregulated market.  And those events of this price inversion appear to cause higher rates than normal of customer participation in direct purchase.     

     MS. DeMARCO:  Can I ask you just to turn to what you've got at Figure 3, on page 5, which is tab 3C of our materials.  Do you have that?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Sorry.  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  I'm looking at the first best three-year data point, 1/1/2000.  So I assume that’s a three-year contract around 14 cents; is that fair?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  That's right.  The customers that got into the market before the price spikes occurred did very well.  And you can see that in both graphs, actually, both the five-year and the three-year, there are customer savings from the early purchasers, or the early sign-ups.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And, in fact, Mr. Adams, would it be fair to say if we go on to 1/1/2001, those customers that went with the competitive service offering would have done fairly well relative to market prices as well, wouldn't they have?

     MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.  In late 2001, marketer offerings dropped to levels that, in hindsight, were offering prices that saved customers money.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let's go on to 1/1/2002.  Customers that got in at that point also did fairly well with competitive service providers, didn't they?

     MR. ADAMS:  In both the three-year and five-year contract market, yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:   And moving along, very seldom do we see customers really suffering from taking a competitive service offering.  Is that fair?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I think it's fair that certainly the earlier the customer signed in, on these -- on this presentation of data, remembering, of course, that this is all sorted to capture the best offerings at any point in time, but that's what the experience has been, keeping in mind, of course, that we've been in an environment of rising gas prices.

     MS. DeMARCO:  So all in all, customers did not – did fairly well from signing up with competitive service offerings?

     MR. ADAMS:  Well, we don't have enough information here to be able to make a generalized statement like that.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Based on the information you've got here?

     MR. ADAMS:  Based on this information, but again, this is limited information, looking not at the actual contracts that customers signed but a mathematical version of how the market performed.

     There were actually, in some of these time periods, like, on the five-year contract period, if you showed the scatter diagram not sorted, what you would find is that there were some customers that were signed in early 2001 to contracts in the 36 cents per cubic metre range.

      And so, to come to a conclusion about whether customers have generally be well served or not by the competitive market, I would suggest this is not sufficient information.  And unfortunately I don't have sufficient information to answer that question, because my database does not capture customer participation rates in each contract.  I don't know that information.  All I know is what the marketers have published.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Let me rephrase the question.

     Based on the information that you have presented here

in Figure 3 and Figure 5, assuming that customers are educated and can price-compare, customers taking a competitive service offering, the best, in your testimony, service offering, would not have fared so badly, would they?

     MR. ADAMS:  In most of the time periods, that's correct.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Thank you.  Is it possible, then, that the price distortion associated with the proposed fixed cost purchase plan and the risk management activity may prevent a customer who would have moved to a competitive service provider from moving? 

     MR. ADAMS:  Oh, yes.  I think that's quite clear,

because if we go back to the corrected Figure 2, if I can -- if we can go to the Energy Probe compendium of documents, where we've got the colour pictures.

     Actually, Ms. DeMarco's package has this same information; it just doesn't have the colour.  But either way, what you see on this graph is the spot market price versus the regulated utility price.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Adams, I haven't found it.  Which graph are we referring to?  You referred to the -- okay.  If you're in your compendium, can you tell me what tab it is?

     MR. ADAMS:  In you're in my compendium, that's tab 4, page 4.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.

     MR. ADAMS:  What this graph shows is that there are time periods where the market prices are much higher than regulated prices, and that would naturally encourage customers to not go to marketers at that time.  The marketer offers would tend to be much higher than the regulated prices that the customers were paying.  And so that, depending on what the trajectory is for market prices, could leave customers making the wrong decisions at those time periods.

      So the distortion here can harm customers when the price is either too low or too high.  It's not -- what I'm making an argument for here, the purpose of my evidence is to make the case for accurate pricing.

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, just let me clarify that point, because would you agree with me that certain customers might be most concerned with getting the lowest price; is that fair?

     MR. ADAMS:  Sure.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And certain other customers might be concerned or have as an objective to get a stable price; is that fair?

     MR. ADAMS:  Absolutely.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And so would it be fair to say that the price signal distortion inhibits customers from achieving their particular objectives in response to accurate price signals?

     MR. ADAMS:  Fair.

     MS. DeMARCO:  In fact, that tension, if you turn up tab 1A, appendix A, page 14, of our materials, which is the risk management policy, page 14.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is it fair to say that that tension between direct purchase and Union's risk management activities is, in fact, reflected in their own policy?  If I can ask you to look at the last paragraph on that page, it indicates:

“Union has some limitations on long-term

 planning due to its requirement to facilitate

 direct purchase activities.  Direct purchase

 limits Union's ability to accurately forecast

 system volumes as customers have the option

 to leave and return to system-gas supply."

     So is it fair to say that that tension is reflected in the company's own risk management policy?

     MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, I object to the question on the basis that that question ought to have been put to Mr. Simpson or Ms. Piett.  It wasn't.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Madam Chair, I'm not aware of any restriction on what questions I can ask about what's in the company's own risk management policy, and I think it's fairly put to this witness, who opined on that policy.

     MS. NOWINA:  I don't have a problem, Mr. Smith.

     MR. SMITH:  That's fine.

     MR. ADAMS:  My reading of this statement is captured -- I think the statement captures a couple of concepts.  One is that Union, for the purposes of risk management, has to maintain sufficient flexibility in their portfolios to allow customer migrations to and from.

      And that's an important consideration if the portfolio is going to get extended in its duration.  The 24-month program creates, all else equal, a higher risk that market prices and regulated prices will significantly diverge from each other.  And to the extent that customers are using that information to make purchasing decisions, we could see larger swings in movement back and forth to direct purchase.

     So I think there is a tension between the objectives of the risk-management program, and that is reflected in this statement.

     MS. DeMARCO:  In fact, Mr. Adams, would you agree with me that it's fair to say that the price signal distortion may inhibit transparent communications with customers regarding the current gas prices that they will eventually be paying through the QRAM smoothing process?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And those price signal distortions may impede customers responding to the price signals to further educate themselves on what options are available?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you would agree with me that the proposed fixed cost purchase plan would, in effect, espouse a somewhat paternalistic approach to customers who might want to get educated and make their own decisions as to what objectives -- whether they be decreased or the lowest price or the smoothest price, it would inhibit their ability to respond accordingly.

     MR. ADAMS:  I agree.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And you would agree with me that all customers, regardless of what their objectives are, are paying for those risk management and fixed cost purchase plan activities?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And they're paying in two ways, would you agree with me, the first way being through the actual incremental costs of implementing the risk management activities?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  We've covered some of that in this hearing, but there are overhead costs associated with Union providing the services.

     MS. DeMARCO:  O&M costs, fair?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Those appear to me to be modest, but there are incremental costs.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And we don't know the fully allocated costs; is that fair?

     MR. ADAMS:  No.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And the second way they'd be paying is through the commodity cost itself; is that fair?  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  And there are costs that are embedded in the commodity costs that reflect the risk management instruments.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And in fact, in the evidence submitted by the company in Exhibit M.1.9 --

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, I have it.

     MS. DeMARCO:  In each of the time periods, save one, the company's paying higher costs for their gas because of the risk management activities; is that fair?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  There's one instance, being 

January 2005, when the risk-managed version is lower, relative to the Alberta border price.

     MS. DeMARCO:  And again, all customers, including those customers that have as an objective getting the lowest price, not the smoothest price, are paying those costs.  Is that fair?  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Is it also fair that the price signal distortion from the proposed fixed-cost purchase plan and risk management may impact a customer's response to higher prices in the form of conservation activities?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, although I haven't been able to quantify this effect, it appears clear that during periods of price excursions, when we have very high prices the pricing methodology that's used today does not signal that scarcity to the customer.  So that customers don't respond.  They pay for it later.

     MS. DeMARCO:  So, in effect, it's possible that that price signal distortion could inhibit energy conservation and energy efficiency in the natural gas market place?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  I believe that the indirect effect of suppressing conservation during high-priced periods may be potentially a significant overall cost to consumers.  But I don't know how to quantify the loss.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Just on a notional basis?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yeah.

     MS. DeMARCO:  Those are my question, Madam Chair.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. DeMarco.  

Mr. Buonaguro?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.

CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. BUONAGURO:  

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Mr. Adams, could you tell me what order it is that you're seeking from the Board?

     MR. ADAMS:  My evidence is designed to address the question of what is the consumer impact of price smoothing. 

And my conclusion is that price smoothing increases consumer costs.  So I think it flows from this conclusion that increasing the extent of risk management to include a 24-month smoothing component would be not in the interests of consumers.

     Further, I believe a conclusion that arises from this new information is that risk management itself does not promote the lowest-cost service for consumers.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I asked the question because -- and I think at page 3 of your evidence, which you don't have to turn it up this second, but this appears in your compendium of documents at tab 3, on page 3 of that evidence you say that you're asking for:

"… an order reversing the Board's overall

          support for system gas price smoothing,

          discontinuing the Union risk management

          program, including the proposed 24-month 

fixed-cost purchase program, and possibly

          discontinuing the rolling 12-month recovery

          of PGVA balances."

So that sounds like at one point of your evidence --that seems to be what you're asking for.  Is that fair?  

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  The question of QRAM methodology was not one that was on the issues list.  And when I had originally started drafting the evidence, I was focussed only on these two prior questions, the 24-month, and the role of risk management, smoothing, the Board's historical endorsement of smoothing.  But as I got further into it, and started generating the results, I thought it was worth mentioning that the disadvantageous impacts for consumers of smoothing appears to be caused by factors beyond just risk management.  And there I believe that QRAM is part of the problem.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Which, I guess, leads to page 10 of your evidence where you say:

“A combination of risk management, the QRAM,

          including the PGVA, and physical hedging

          associated with putting gas into storage for

          seasonal load-balancing results in

          significant smoothing."

And I’m paraphrasing your evidence on that page.  You say that the smoothing effect creates customer danger zones.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  So, as I understand it, one of your arguments is that we should get rid of risk management now, as a component of the 24-month purchase plan, as the first step in eliminating also the QRAM, including the PGVA, and possibly fiscal hedging associated with seasonal load-balancing, all in an effort to move towards a floating spot pass-through service.  Is that correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  I was asked an interrogatory by Superior

Energy Management along this line, and that's Interrogatory No. 12.  And in the Energy Probe compendium of documents, that's tab 4, last two pages.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Sorry, I'm looking at tab 4, and then there's A and B.

     MR. ADAMS:  Of the Energy Probe compendium?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Oh, Energy Probe.  Sorry.  Thank you.

     MR. ADAMS:  There I was asked by Superior to comment on an alternative approach for price formation, pricing methodology, and specifically, a proposal that a group of marketers had made some years ago on this point.  And I tried to capsulize, as best I can, my understanding of what they were proposing, and then I found myself substantially in agreement with the approach.

     But the thrust of it is to come up with a regulated price that would go out to customers that would be much more informative to customers about conditions out in the real world.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I'm sorry.  I'm not sure that specifically answers my question.

     My question was, and perhaps in a more general sense, eliminating risk management is just the first step in what you propose.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  Because of the limitations of the issues list, I have not canvassed completely this wider subject, although I do raise the point.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I understand.  So, although you haven't fully explored the next steps, you want the Board to accept that the first step is the right one?

     MR. ADAMS:  I -- if nothing more comes from my evidence but one conclusion, it is that smoothing, although it appears to be beneficial for consumers, is actually harmful.  And if the Board was to agree with that conclusion, it would represent a departure from a long history of Board decisions in this area.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, I guess the endpoint on this journey I've described as being the first step towards your looking at a floating spot pass-through commodity supply offering, and you've referred to an undertaking as one way in which it might work.

     I understand your evidence to suggest that one of the reasons you want spot pass-through commodity supply offering is that it minimizes consumer cost.  And that's at page 16 of your evidence.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And at page 6 of your evidence, you say that:

"The optimal purchasing strategy for cost

          minimization of the long term is most likely

          to be based on spot purchases."

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, setting aside the cost of performing risk management, my understanding of the Union evidence and my understanding of some of the statements you've made today in terms of it being a zero-sum game is that what system-gas -- the system-gas offering today, over the long term, will reflect the market price.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  So that, again, aside from the cost of risk management, system-gas as it's offered today produces the same cost minimization of the customer that your floating spot pass-through supply offering would offer.

     MR. ADAMS:  If we were operating in a market that was closed, where there was only the utility price offering that was available to consumers, that statement would be correct.

      But I think that's too narrow a perspective.  I think from a consumer point of view, in terms of consumers making the choices that they are presented with often on a daily basis, they live in a world where they have both the regulated and unregulated price option available to them.

And that changes the outcome.  


The operation of the risk-management program is a relatively modest cost that utility ratepayers pay.  It's the indirect cost of providing customers with inaccurate price signals that may represent a far larger expense in terms of overall energy cost to consumers.

     The starting point of -- maybe I didn't make it clear in my evidence, but the starting point for my evidence, the motivation for this evidence is to identify strategies that can minimize energy costs for consumers.  And smoothing is not consistent with that objective.

     MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, do you mind if I interrupt and ask my own question to make sure I'm clear on this point?

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  When you're talking about the end cost to consumers, is it your position, then, Mr. Adams, that the commodity price itself might be reduced, the spot market price, if you like, if all these consumers were buying on a spot market pass-through basis?

     MR. ADAMS:  No.

     MS. NOWINA:  All right.  So the cost reduction you're talking about comes -- where does it come from, then?

     MR. ADAMS:  When the customer receives a price signal from the regulated price indicating that gas is inexpensive, when, in fact, in the real world, gas is very expensive, a customer might make an incorrect consumption decision.

     MS. NOWINA:  So they consume more?

     MR. ADAMS:  Than they might otherwise have.

     MS. NOWINA:  Right.

     MR. ADAMS:  When the circumstances are reversed, and the regulated price received by the customer indicates that regulated prices are high, when actually in the real world prices are low, customers may make direct purchase decisions that they might not otherwise have made if they'd had more accurate information from the regulated price.

     The direct purchase market price follows the market. 

When prices fall, the market offering prices from the marketers drops immediately, like, within days.  But the regulated price does not have that flexibility.

     So in periods of falling prices you have these occurrences of price inversions where the regulated price is much higher than the real-world price, and there customers can make incorrect decisions as well.  So they can make the wrong decision when the price is too low and make the wrong decision when the price is too high.

     MS. NOWINA:  I may come back to it.  

     Go ahead, Mr. Buonaguro.  I'm sorry.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  You spoke of the price inversions, and can I assume that you've identified this in your corrected Figure 2?  These are the areas you've identified as consumer danger zones?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And that's in your compendium at tab 4, at page 4, corrected Figure 2. 

     Now, I notice in your figure you've identified the consumer danger zone between 2003 -- or two, actually, danger zones between 2003 and 2005, where you say that because of the price inversion consumers, if your theory is correct, would be driven to inefficient market offerings.

     MR. ADAMS:  Purchase decisions; correct.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Now, if I could turn you to your evidence, your initial report, which is at tab 3 of the same book, at page 12, you have your marketer market share table.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Which you point to to show spikes in a consumer lean to marketers as a result of consumer danger zones.

     MR. ADAMS:  Participation rate, yes.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  And between 2003 and 2004 -- or 2005, actually, in both Union and Enbridge, there's no change in market a share for direct purchase markets.

      Sorry.  There's no change at all in the percentage of the market controlled by direct purchase contracts.

     MR. ADAMS:  That's correct.  The big change appears to have occurred in the 2001-2002 period, where the amplitude of the differential between regulated prices versus the real-world price was the greatest.

 
MR. BUONAGURO:  So are you incorrect in your conclusion that these other two zones are danger zones?

     MR. ADAMS:  The premium charged by marketers over the future market strip is typically in the 15 to 30 percent range.

     And so the worst, the most acute risk for consumers is where the regulated price exceeds market price by amounts greater than the premium that's embedded in the marketer offerings.

     So relatively small price inversions are not as deleterious in terms of misinforming consumers as are those experiences where you've got the big gap that opens up, fortunately only for brief periods, where regulated prices are significantly too high.

     So I think it's fair to say that not all of these consumer danger zones are as bad as others.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  When you say it's bad, it actually appears that the ones you have identified -- I mean, you identified for through 2003-2005, it would appear to have no impact, that the participation rate other than in

2001 for Union, and 2001-2 for Enbridge, are fairly consistent over the last, arguably, 1997-2005?

     MR. ADAMS:  My observation in response to that observation is that we've got a very crude experiment here and very crude information in front of us that participation rates that we see in direct marketing are not comparable to other cases where there are.  I'm phrasing this badly.

     Let me try my answer over again.

     We don't have a blind study here where we've got one group of customers that are in the market experience that we have here in Ontario, regulated prices plus marketer offerings.  But we have no other cohort that are experiencing another combination of opportunities and environmental conditions.

     So we don't know how many customers are signing up, caused by the price inversion events.  We can only see it, I think, fairly crudely, and that's why I believe the experience in 2001 and 2002 is the best information we've got.  It's directionally helpful to understand, but I don't know -- I don't suggest that it's very accurate.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  I'd like to take you back to your conclusion, the conclusion of your argument, which I think

is that you want to offer a spot pass-through offering, and you've referred to your interrogatory response which suggests a particular way in which it might work.

     Do you have the information necessary to graph that on your Figure 2?

     MR. ADAMS:  No, I don't.  And I have enough experience in this area to appreciate that the details of alternative methodology for price formation are highly technical questions that go substantially beyond my expertise on my own.  I think if somebody was going come up with a new pricing methodology that moved away from smoothing, towards an objective of more accurate pricing, some significant design effort involving stakeholders with the appropriate expertise, particularly utilities, would be necessary.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Would it be fair to say that it wouldn't overlap the blue line point by point?

     MR. ADAMS:  That's right.  I think that the practical realities of particularly the measurement interval for meter-reading data, given the technology that we have today in the field for monitoring usage by small-volume 

general-service customers, means that there's always going to be limitations on the extent to which highly precisely accurate prices can be provided to consumers.  So there's always going to be some differential between regulated prices versus market prices, but we -- I think it would be in the interests of consumers that the regulator move the price methodology towards one that I've described.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  You've spoken a few times about price signals.  Would you agree that the value of the information derived from price signals comes from knowing what the price is you're going pay before you make a purchase and consumption decision?

     MR. ADAMS:  In network commodities like electricity and natural gas, there are practical limitations on the extent to which you can actually achieve that.  Network 

commodities, like electricity and natural gas, cannot be

priced in exactly similar way to the way tomatoes are priced down at the grocery store on the main floor of this 

building.

     When you pay for tomatoes, you know that it's $3.29 a

unit.  And you go to the checkout counter, and that's the

end of the transaction.

     With network commodities it's not exactly like that,

because there's timing differentials.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  When you mean timing differentials, you mean that you consume it and then you buy it?

     MR. ADAMS:  That's right.  It's a regrettable fact of

life.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Mr. Adams, do you accept that reducing

price volatility for consumers of system-gas has any value? 

     MR. ADAMS:  It intuitively sounds like a valuable

service.  But I think it's an example where our intuition

gives us the wrong -- leads us to the wrong conclusion.

     It sounds crazy to say --

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Well, let me ask a follow-up question.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yeah.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  If you didn't believe that a side

effect of reducing price volatility was to distort market

signals, would you agree that reducing price volatility in

and of itself added value?

     MR. ADAMS:  I agree with that statement.  If we did

not have an open market, with customers having customer

choice, then negative implications of these differential between regulated between real-world prices would not be nearly so significant.

     MR. BUONAGURO:  Thank you.  Those are my questions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  

We'll take a short break, a 15-minute break, before Mr. Smith's cross.  We'll return at 5 minutes to 12.

--- Recess taken at 11:39 a.m.

--- On resuming at 12:05 p.m.

     MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  

Mr. Smith.

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Perhaps we could mark the book of documents that I distributed last week, if we can mark that now as an exhibit.

     MS. NOWINA:  You can, Mr. Smith.

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

     MR. SCHUCH:  Yes, Madam Chair.  That would be Exhibit

M.4.1.

     EXHIBIT M.4.1:  UNION GAS BOOK OF DOCUMENTS
     MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Smith. 


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. SMITH:

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Adams, you are the executive director of Energy Probe Research Foundation?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And you've held that position since 1996?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And you were the executive director of

Energy Probe at the time of Union's last rate case, RP-2003-0063?

     MR. ADAMS:  Correct.

     MR. SMITH:  Energy Probe was a registered intervenor in that proceeding?

     MR. ADAMS:  Correct.

     MR. SMITH:  Energy Probe sought and obtained funding in that proceeding?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  Energy Probe was represented by counsel in that proceeding?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Dingwall?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And you personally were also a participant, along with Mr. MacIntosh? 

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  Risk management was a significant issue for Energy Probe during that hearing?

     MR. ADAMS:  It was one of the matters that we cross-examined on and argued.

     MR. SMITH:  I take it you're aware that in the 

RP-2003-0063 case Union filed a report prepared by Risk

Management Incorporated?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And I could ask you to turn to -– the tabs aren't marked but if you would turn to the second tab, do you see that report?

     MR. ADAMS:  I have it.

     MR. SMITH:  And that was the report that was filed by Union?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  Panel, do you have that report?

     MS. NOWINA:  We do.

     MR. SMITH:  And the report was commissioned in response to the settlement agreement in RP-2001-0029; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And you're aware that RMI commented on

Union's risk management plan and made certain recommendations in respect of it?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And you were aware, I take it, that Union also filed evidence that case and adopted many of the recommendations made by Risk Management Incorporated?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.



MR. SMITH:  And the pre-filed evidence, members of the Board, is found at the first tab of my materials.

     Now, in your capacity with Energy Probe and as an active participant in the proceeding, you would have made yourself familiar with these two pieces of evidence?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And you had an opportunity to ask interrogatories in respect of that evidence?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And you or your counsel had an opportunity to cross-examine in respect of that evidence?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And I take it from your earlier answer that you availed yourself of that opportunity?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  Now, following the completion of the evidentiary portion of the case, Energy Probe submitted written argument?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And it was the position of Energy Probe that Union's risk-management program had no benefit?

     MR. ADAMS:  I believe so.

     MR. SMITH:  And you further sought direction from the

Board that Union be required to discontinue its risk-management program; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  Now, you're aware that in the result the Board rejected Energy Probe's position?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And the Board concluded that the program provided value and was appropriate.

     MR. ADAMS:  They made a number of remarks, but that's generally the flavour.

     MR. SMITH:  Well, can I ask you to turn to tab 4 of the materials?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And that's decision of the Board in RP-2003-0063.  Do you have that?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And if you turn to page 17, it should be the final page of that tab.  Do you see that?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And you see the final paragraph, and I'll read it to you:

"The Board finds that Union's risk-management

program does provide value to ratepayers and

is therefore appropriate and that the specific

changes Union is proposing to implement in

the 2004 rate year are reasonable and provide

an opportunity to enhance the value of the

program."

     Do you see that?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, I do.

     MR. SMITH:  And that's the Board's conclusion?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Adams, I take it you'll agree with me that gas prices today are higher than they were in 2003?

     MR. ADAMS:  Gas prices today -- are you referring to average prices through 2003?

     MR. SMITH:  Just average prices.

     MR. ADAMS:  The spot price today is close to the average price from 2003.

     MR. SMITH:  But higher?

     MR. ADAMS:  I wouldn't hesitate -- I mean, I'm hesitating to agree with that.  But, subject to check, I'll accept your proposition.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And the gas prices remain volatile?

     MR. ADAMS:  That's correct, much more volatile than they were during the 1990s.

     MR. SMITH:  And it just is a simple mathematical proposition, I take it you would agree with me, that a percentage change on a higher number leads to a greater absolute result?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  So a 20 percent change on a $10 gas price is more than a 20 percent change on a smaller gas price.

     MR. ADAMS:  That's right.  We have now both higher and more volatile prices than we had in the 1990s, if that's where you're going.

     MR. SMITH:  Mr. Adams, you would agree that Union's

risk management program has the effect of reducing the volatility of system-gas prices?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, it does.

     MR. SMITH:  And its 24-month fixed-cost purchase plan also has that effect?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And I take it you would agree with me that

as a general proposition customers prefer reduced volatility in their natural gas bills?

     MR. ADAMS:  I think all else equal, that statement is correct; however, I'm not aware of any instance where the two major gas utilities in their surveys of customers in recent years have asked customers how much consumers are willing to pay for stabilized prices, but, all else equal, customers, I believe, would prefer stable versus volatile prices.

     MR. SMITH:  And I was going to come to this, but since you've raised the matter, I take it you have not conducted any independent surveys of your own?

     MR. ADAMS:  No, I have not.

     MR. SMITH:  Now, Mr. Adams, you indicate in your evidence, and you mentioned to Mr. Buonaguro, something called a customer danger zone?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And that's a period of time when system-gas prices are higher than Alberta wholesale market prices?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And in your report you indicate that,                "We may be entering such a zone again."

     MR. ADAMS:  That's what the current trajectory of prices appears to suggest.

     MR. SMITH:  I take it you're not certain one way or another whether that's going to occur.

     MR. ADAMS:  No.  That's fair.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  If you turn to M.1.8, tab 4.

These are your cross-examination materials, tab 4, page 4.  I'm going to look at your Figure 2, corrected simply because it's in colour and it's easier to read.  Do you have that?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes, I have it.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  And there appears to have been a consumer danger zone in the 2001/2002 period?

     MR. ADAMS:  For an extended period of time.  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And I believe you confirmed this to Mr. Buonaguro, but there was a consumer danger zone in 2003?

     MR. ADAMS:  For a shorter period of time, and a lower amplitude.

     MR. SMITH:  And in 2004 there was also a consumer danger zone


MR. ADAMS:  Yes, that's correct.

     MR. SMITH:  And you refer there, at the end of that chart, to another consumer danger zone.  I take it from your answer that's only a possibility; it may not occur? 
     MR. ADAMS:  I probably should have added a question mark.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Mr. Adams, I'd like to draw your attention to consumer danger zone in the middle of the page.  And you'll see a reference to October 1, 2003.  Do you see is that?

     MR. ADAMS:  October -- yes.

     MR. SMITH:  So that indicates there was a consumer danger zone in October 2003; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And, Mr. Adams, I take it you were aware that Union's last rate case, RP-2003-0063, was heard in

October 2003?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And, in fact, cross-examination in respect of risk management was conducted on October 6, 2003, subject to check?

     MR. ADAMS:  I accept that.

     MR. SMITH:  So I take it the fact that there was a consumer danger zone was known to Energy Probe at the time of the last rates proceeding; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  Unfortunately not.

     MR. SMITH:  Is that because you didn't turn your mind to the issue?

     MR. ADAMS:  Because I had not studied the matter in sufficient depth.

     MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Had you studied the matter, it would have been known to you?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And I believe you confirmed this with

Mr. Buonaguro, but again, there were consumer danger zones from ‘03 through ‘05.

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And again the direct purchase market share in ‘03, ‘04, and ‘05, was static during that period at 37 percent; correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  And now I just have a couple of additional points, Mr. Adams.

     I'm correct that in the Natural Gas Forum the Board found the utilities should continue in the supply of system-gas?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And the survey referred to in U.2.3, that was filed by Union in the Natural Gas Forum?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And Energy Probe participated in the Natural Gas Forum?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.

     MR. SMITH:  And I believe you may have answered this before, but I take it you've commissioned no surveys in respect of customer preferences towards risk management;

correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  We've commissioned no formal surveys, although in my position I'm in contact with a lot of customers on an anecdotal basis.

     MR. SMITH:  Nothing formal?

     MR. ADAMS:  Nothing formal; that's correct.

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Mr. Adams, those are my questions.

     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Smith.  

Mr. Millar.

     MR. MILLAR:  I have nothing for Mr. Adams.

     MS. NOWINA:  Board Panel doesn't have any questions either, Mr. Adams.  Thank you very much.  You're excused.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  I do have some questions to follow up.

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm sorry.  Of course.  I'm sorry,

Mr. MacIntosh, back to you.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Madam Chair, I did wish to note that, based on the transcript, it was my understanding that

Mr. Smith had state stated that he would not be cross-examining Mr. Adams on his package of materials submitted into evidence today, which, as it has turned out, was not correct.

     MS. NOWINA:  They appeared to be fairly straightforward questions, Mr. MacIntosh.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  I just wish to note it, Madam Chair. 

RE-EXAMINATION BY MR. MacINTOSH:

     MR. MacINTOSH:  Mr. Adams, to clarify your answer to a question by the counsel for VECC on QRAM, is there an effective way that you would suggest to alter QRAM, the frequency of the true-up or something else in that manner, which would be more efficient for price signalling?

     MR. ADAMS:  My interrogatory response to SEM, which is Interrogatory Response No. 12, that's L.10.12, which is included in tab 4 of the Energy Probe compendium of documents, endorses a proposal from the marketers for a monthly updated price.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  An MRAM, so to speak?

     MR. ADAMS:  Yes.  A similar proposal was presented in

Pre-filed evidence by Enbridge's predecessor, Consumers Gas, but it was a proposal called GCAM, gas cost adjustment mechanism, which I believe had some similarity to the features described in the interrogatory response 12.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  So, really, anything that might occur later on QRAM is really not a risk management issue in this proceeding; is that correct?

     MR. ADAMS:  Right.  Yes.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Now, to clarify your answer to another question from the counsel for VECC, does the fact that system-gas offers the same price in the long run as the spot price mean the result is neutral for conservation choices? 

     MR. ADAMS:  No.  The smooth price, although it collects the same revenue over time, produces a different information signal to the customer than a price that more closely matches the market price.  And that has consequences for consumers, both with respect to their conservation decisions and also the direct purchase decisions.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Mr. Adams, other than asking the Board to reject the applicant's 24-month fixed cost price plan, are you asking the Board for any further relief in respect of risk management activities of Union Gas?

     MR. ADAMS:  The conclusion of my analysis suggests that the historical approach the Board has taken in supporting price smoothing is one that the Board ought to reconsider.  We're asking for the Board to reconsider that in this decision is.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  And, just as a final point, I wonder if you could turn to the decision on RP-2003-0063 mentioned by Mr. Smith.  And in that decision, turn to page 17.

     MR. ADAMS:  I have it.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Looking at the first paragraph, could you read the last sentence in that paragraph to us, please? 

     MR. ADAMS:  

"To the extent that intervenors have

          significant concerns about the operation of

          Union's risk-management program, it is open

          to them in future proceedings to bring expert

          evidence recommending appropriate changes to

          the program."

     MR. MACINTOSH:  And I might ask as a final question:

How did that sentence play into Energy Probe's decision to

pursue risk management in this proceeding?

     MR. ADAMS:  This direction from the Board was one of

the factors we considered in preparing our evidence.

     MR. MACINTOSH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my

redirect.


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:
     MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.  I'd like to beg everyone's indulgence for a few moments and we'll see if we can help Mr. Crockford with his matter.

     Mr. Crockford, are you still on the line?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes.

     MS. NOWINA:  I'm going to ask Mr. Millar, our Board Counsel, to ask you a couple of questions to clarify what it is you're looking to.

Mr. Millar.
     MR. MILLAR:  Hello, Mr. Crockford, it's Michael Millar speaking.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Hello.

     MR. MILLAR:  I just wanted to seek some clarification on your request for an extension.  I assume, from the way that the timing looks, I assume you're bringing a motion the Board for a review or an appeal; is that right? 

MR. CROCKFORD:  A reconsideration request, yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I don't know if you're looking at the rules, but is this under rule 42 of our Rules of Practice And Procedure?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Actually, I've not reviewed the Rules ...

      MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, Mr. Crockford.  You're not coming through here quite as loudly as the other people in the room, so our court reporter is having just a little bit of difficulty hearing everything that you're saying.  I’ll ask if you can maybe speak as loud as you can and as clearly, just to make sure she can get everything down.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.

     MR. MILLAR:  Maybe I'll put the question to you again.  The question is are you bringing this appeal to the

Ontario Energy Board or is this an appeal before the Divisional Court?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  No, I have to file a reconsideration request with you first, so that’s what I’m doing. 

 
MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  As I see it, the decision you’re appealing, it’s the decision to refuse to order Union to answer some of your interrogatories?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Correct.

     MR. MILLAR:  And I think the date of that decision was May 11th; is that right?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes.  I didn't receive it until a couple of days after that, though.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And as I see our rules give 20 days from that date to file an appeal -- or file, I guess it's technically a review, but it's in many ways the same as an appeal.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.

     MR. MILLAR:  And as I count the date, that gives you until May 31st, which I believe is Wednesday.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Okay.

     MR. MILLAR:  Does that help you, or would you be requesting a further extension?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  I would appreciate a little extra time, possibly a week.  I started drafting it this weekend. 

I'm not finished.  And also, my -- excuse me, and it also might include some constitutional questions, so it's a little more detailed than just asking for a judicial -- excuse me, a reconsideration request.

     MR. MILLAR:  What date would you like until?

     MR. CROCKFORD:  A week, if possible.

     MR. MILLAR:  A week from today.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Yes.

     MR. MILLAR:  Okay, Madam Chair.  I hope that helps to clarify the issues.  I'll pass it to the Panel for your consideration.

     MS. NOWINA:  It does.  Just a moment.

     [The Board confers]

     MS. NOWINA:  Yes, I think that this is a decision that the Board can make without asking parties for submissions.  We will give you that week, Mr. Crockford, so you'll have to give us your request for review one week from today, which is?

     MR. SCHUCH:  June 5th.

     MS. NOWINA:  June 5th.

     MR. CROCKFORD:  Thank you.

     MS. NOWINA:  You're welcome.

     That ends that matter.  We will resume tomorrow morning at 10 o'clock for argument.  Are there any other matters that the parties need to bring forward?

     We'll adjourn to tomorrow morning at 10 o’clock.  
     Thank you, everyone.  Thank you, Mr. Adams.

     MR. SMITH:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 12:28 p.m.
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